FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/30/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
5/30/2023 12:28 PM

102040-6

Court of Appeals Cause No. 383326

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Barbara Werner, *Petitioner*,

v.

The State of Washington, the Washington State Patrol, Jeffrey DeVere, Jay Cabezuela, Timothy Winchell, and John Batiste, *Respondents*

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Thomas G. Jarrard (WSBA #39774)
The Law Office of Thomas G. Jarrard, PLLC
1020 N. Washington
Spokane, WA 99201
Tel. (425) 239-7290

Colin M. Downes (admitted pro hac vice)
R. Joseph Barton (admitted pro hac vice)
Barton & Downes LLP

I. Identity of Petitioner

The petitioner is Barbara Werner, absent class member, proposed intervenor-plaintiff, and proposed class representative. Petitioner Werner requests that the Washington Supreme Court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.¹

¹ Plaintiff-Appellants Martin, Longoria, Arnold, Nash, Thomas, Foster, Sager, and Gonzalez also originally appealed from the trial court's decision. However, due to the passage of time Petitioner's counsel understands that all of these plaintiffs are either no longer employed by the Washington State Patrol and/or are not members of the uniformed services. As a result, none of the existing plaintiffs/class representative have standing to seek prospective relief on behalf of the certified class. Nor were any of the named plaintiffs/appointed class representatives affected by the challenged Washington State Patrol policy after December 21, 2016, and thus none have a claim for monetary relief. Consequently, only proposed intervenor-plaintiff and proposed class representative Barbara Werner has standing to seek review of the Court of Appeals decision in this case. Despite never having been joined as a named plaintiff in the trial court (because the trial court determined she lacked standing and thus was not an appropriate representative of the certified class) she is an "aggrieved party" who "may seek review by the appellate court." Wash. R. App. P. 3.1 because the affirmance of the trial court's

II. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioner Werner requests that the Court review the unpublished opinion of Division III of the Washington Court of Appeals, filed on April 27, 2023, in the matter of *Martin v. Washington* (the "Opinion"). A copy of the Opinion is included in the Appendix, along with the relevant trial court opinion, the relevant statutes, and the scheduling policy of the Washington State Patrol relevant to this petition.

summary judgment decision has substantially affected her right to pecuniary compensation for the Washington State Patrol's violations of USERRA. See Sheets v. Benevolent & Protective Ord. of Keglers, 34 Wash. 2d 851, 855 (1949) (holding persons are "entitled to appeal or sue out a writ of error, whenever it operates prejudicially and directly upon his property or pecuniary rights or interest, or upon his personal rights"); see also State of Alaska v. Suburban Propane Gas Corp., 123 F.3d 1317, 1320 (9th Cir. 1997) (holding absent putative class member had standing to appeal from adverse trial court decision).

III. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Statutory paid military leave is a right or benefit protected under USERRA only to the extent of the benefit provided by the underlying paid leave statute. Under RCW § 38.40.060, Washington provides public employees with 21 days of paid military leave each year, which must be charged only for days those employees are scheduled to work. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding RCW § 38.40.060 permits public employers to modify the schedules of employees who take military leave and thus such modifications could not deprive employees of a protected right or benefit?
- 2. USERRA, 38 U.S.C. § 4316(d), prohibits employers from requiring employees who take military leave to use vacation, annual, or similar leave during a period of military service. The Washington State Patrol maintains a policy under which employees who take more than 15 days of military leave are converted from a four-day-a-week schedule to a five-day-a-week schedule. This manipulation of their schedule thus requires

a servicemember to use additional leave days (annual leave, vacation, unpaid leave, or statutory paid military leave) to cover additional absences. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that this policy does not force the use of vacation, annual, or similar leave during a period of military service?

- USERRA, 38 U.S.C. § 4316(a), provides that 3. employees reemployed after service in the uniformed services may not be denied rights and benefits determined by seniority, which includes any benefits which accrue with longevity in employment. Under RCW § 38.40.060, Washington public employers incentivize continued employment by servicemembers by affording them 21 days of paid military leave – an amount which accrues annually and does not vary based on hours worked. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that this statutory paid military leave benefit was not a benefit determined by seniority?
- 4. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that Petitioner Werner lacked standing, was not a member of the

certified class, and thus could not serve as a representative of the class?

IV. Statement of the Case

Statutory Background. Congress has long recognized that when someone puts on a uniform to serve in the military, their country owes them certain obligations in return. One is the assurance that, when they have discharged their duties, they will be able to return to work without being penalized for serving an obligation, in other words, "to compensate for the disruption of careers and the financial setback [from] military service." 140 Cong. Rec. S7670–71 (June 27, 1994) (statement of Sen. Rockefeller). To make good on this solemn obligation, Congress has repeatedly expanded and strengthened workplace protections in "a long line of federal veterans' rights laws enacted since the Selective Training and Service Act of 1940." DeLee v. City of Plymouth, Ind., 773 F.3d 172, 174 (7th Cir. 2014). The most recent and comprehensive of these statutes is USERRA, which Congress enacted in 1994 to "strengthen existing employment

rights of veterans of our armed forces." *Id.* at 174–75. In the runup to USERRA, Congress concluded that the existing statute was too "complex and difficult to understand," 139 Cong. Rec. H2203–02, H2209 (May 4, 1993), and that it was "sometimes ambiguous, thereby allowing for misinterpretations," H.R. Rep. 103–65(I), at 18. These misinterpretations took too narrow a view of the law, thwarting the ability of veterans and reservists to vindicate their rights. Congress felt the need "to restate past amendments in a clearer manner and to incorporate important court decisions interpreting the law," while correcting the misinterpretations. 137 Cong. Rec. S6035, S6058 (May 16, 1991) (statement of Sen. Cranston).

USERRA seeks to "clarify, simplify, and, where necessary, strengthen the existing veterans' employment and reemployment rights provisions." H.R. Rep. No. 103–65(I) at 18. Its text identifies three core objectives: (1) "to encourage noncareer service in the uniformed services by eliminating or minimizing the disadvantages to civilian careers and

employment which can result from such service," (2) to "provid[e] for the prompt reemployment of such persons upon their completion of such service," and (3) "to prohibit discrimination against persons because of their service in the uniformed services." 38 U.S.C. § 4301(a). These statutory objectives have taken on "particular interest" and importance in the years since USERRA's passage "because of the large number of reservists [that were] called up for military duty as a result of the conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan." *Gordon v. Wawa, Inc.*, 388 F.3d 78, 79–80 (3d Cir. 2004).

The State of Washington has likewise long recognized the importance of the contributions of America's servicemembers, and in 1939 it determined that the "peace, health and safety of the State" were served by providing public employees who serve in the reserve or armed forces of the United States with an allotment of paid military leave. 1939 Wash. Sess. Laws 325, 325-26. Like the federal government, Washington has progressively expanded and strengthened the rights of employees

who serve in the armed forces. Originally the law allowed for only for 15 days of paid military leave per year, which could only be used for military training and which paid only the difference between military pay and the employee's regular wages as a public employee. *Id.* § 1. Today the law provides for 21 days of paid military leave each year, which may be used for active military duty as well as training during which the employee receives their normal pay. RCW § 38.40.060(1), (3).

The Washington legislature has repeatedly amended the paid military leave statute to protect the benefit from encroachment by public employers. Most recently, in 2018, the legislature added language clarifying that when a servicemember's regular shift spans multiple calendar days they are not to be charged leave for the day on which the shift ends. **RCW** 38.40.060(4)(b). This amendment overruled a Washington Attorney General opinion that had required public employers to charge employees whose shifts spanned multiple calendar days (say, an 8pm to 8am shift as a firefighter) a day of leave for each such calendar day. S. B. Rep., HB 2851 at 1 (Wash. 2018). In doing so, the legislature responded to public testimony that "[h]iring veterans who served the country is important and makes our state safer and stronger" and that the "knowledge, skills, and abilities" that they possess make them a "valuable resource to the state." *Id.* at 2.

Similarly, in 2010 the legislature added language clarifying that the 21 days of paid military leave permitted under the statute refer to 21 days on which the employee is scheduled to work. RCW § 38.40.060(4)(a). The amendment addressed concerns from the public regarding "confusion on the parts of human resources officers related to how military leave is charged" which caused "instances in which public employees have been charged with military leave for days they are not normally scheduled to work." H. B. Rep., SHB 2403 at 2 (Wash. 2010). While this Court had previously held that the existing statutory text required employers to charge workdays an employee was absent, not calendar days, against statutory paid

military leave, "many employees" shared "stories regarding how military leave is incorrectly calculated" such that "clarification" was "needed." *Id*.

The Washington State Patrol's Scheduling Policies. It is customary for Washington State Patrol sergeants, troopers, and lieutenants at certain Washington State Patrol districts to work a "4-10" schedule: ten hours a day, four days a week. CP at 543, Declaration of Barbara Annett Werner in support of Motion for Summary Judgment ("Werner Decl.") ¶ 8. Such a schedule is particularly common in field operations, in which most employees work a 4-10 schedule. CP at 573, Excerpts of the transcript of the Rule 30(b)(6) Deposition of Washington State Patrol by Bob Maki ("WSP Rule 30(b)(6) Dep.") at 25:6-10. But under a policy memorialized in Section 2.020 of the Washington State Patrol's Time and Report Manual ("TAR"), employees who take more than 15 working days of leave are forced onto a Monday through Friday, 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. schedule – a five-day workweek. CP at 320-322, Declaration of Bob Maki in support of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment ("Maki Decl."), Ex. A at § 2.020. This includes employees who take more than 15 days of military leave. *Id.* Upon returning to work, such employees are restored to their prior 4-10 schedule. *Id.* According to the Chief Financial Officer of the Washington State Patrol, he implemented this policy to avoid having to pay a shift differential (*e.g.*, a premium for a night shift) to employees who took long term leaves from employment. CP at 317, Maki Decl. ¶ 5.

The Washington State Patrol's policy has a significant impact on the statutory paid leave benefits of employees on a 4-10 schedule who are absent for military service. After 15 consecutive workdays on leave, the Washington State Patrol changes the employee's schedule from a "4-10" to a five day workweek and begins to charge their allotment of military leave more quickly: at a rate of five days a week instead of four days a week. CP at 545, Werner Decl. ¶ 20. When a trooper's paid military leave is exhausted, they must resort to covering their

military absence either with another form of paid leave (such as vacation) or take leave without pay. *Id.* \P 25.

Proceedings Below. Plaintiffs filed suit on January 3, 2014, originally alleging violations of USERRA in connection with the Washington State Patrol's failure to apply a statutorily mandated veteran's preference on entrance and promotion exams. CP at 1-31, Class Action Complaint. Defendants moved to dismiss, which motion was denied by the court below. The operative Second Amended Complaint was filed on January 9, 2015, and alleges violations of: (1) 38 U.S.C. § 4311(a)-(b); (2) violation of 38 U.S.C. § 4316(a) and (d); and (3) 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims. CP at 64-103, Second Amended Complaint.

The trial court certified the claims in this case, including those at issue on this appeal, as a class action. CP at 277-285, Order and Judgment of Final Approval to Settlement Agreement and Plan of Allocation ("Final Approval Order"). And, following extensive negotiation, the parties settled all claims except those brought under 38 U.S.C. § 4316(a) and (d) to the extent that those

claims sought declaratory or injunctive relief or monetary relief for claims arising after December 21, 2016. CP at 277-285, Final Approval Order.

There were two categories of remaining claims. USERRA prohibits employers from requiring a person whose employment is interrupted by services in the uniformed services to "use vacation, annual, or similar leave during such period of service." 38 U.S.C. 4316(d). And it likewise protects the rights of servicemembers to seniority-based benefits while performing military service and upon reemployment. 38 U.S.C. 4316(a). The theory of Petitioner's case is that the Washington State Patrol's TAR § 2.020 policy violates these provisions by requiring employees absent for more than 15 days of military leave to use annual leave, unpaid leave, or paid military leave to cover an additional absence each week and by paying them less for each such day of leave.

Defendants sought summary judgment on the remaining claims. CP at 329-331, Defendants' Motion for Summary

Judgment. Plaintiffs cross-moved for summary judgment, CP at 539-541, Plaintiffs' Cross Motion for Summary Judgment, and moved to substitute absent class member Barbara Werner as a class representative. CP at 488-490, Motion to Substitute Class Representative. The trial court granted Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, denied Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment, and denied Plaintiffs' Motion to Substitute Barbara Werner as Class Representative. CP at 647-658, Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying Plaintiffs' Cross Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Substitute Class Representative.

After judgment was entered, Plaintiffs and Ms. Werner timely appealed from the Court's grant of summary judgment to Defendants and denial of Plaintiffs' motion to substitute Ms. Werner as class representative. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

V. Argument

This Court will only take discretionary review of a decision of the Court of Appeals terminating review:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Wash. R. App. P. 13.4(a). The Court should grant review of the Opinion for two reasons. First, the Opinion reasoned that the Washington State Patrol's leave policy did not unlawfully deprive Werner and members of the Class of their statutory paid military leave benefits in violation of USERRA in part because in its view RCW 38.40.060 permits employers to modify the days an employee on military leave is scheduled to work while on leave. Opinion at 13-14. This conflicts with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals interpreting this statute, which held that "an employee should not be charged with having taken leave from

his 'employment' on days the employee is not required to be on the job." *Wash. Fed'n of State Emps. v. State Pers. Bd.*, 54 Wn. App. 305, 309, 311 (Wash Ct. App. 1989). Second, the Court should grant review of the Opinion because the right of public employees to their statutory military leave rights is—as the Washington legislature has repeatedly emphasized—an issue in which the public has a substantial interest.

A. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals previously heard a case with facts similar to this one and reached the opposite result. The Washington Personnel Board had adopted a rule related to the computation of paid military leave for state employees under which "state employees who engage in active duty military training are charged with taking military leave on any work days in which they engage in such training, as well as non-working days that fall between working days on which the employee participates in the training." *Washington Fed'n of State Emps. v.*

State Pers. Bd., 54 Wash. App. 305, 307 (1989). So, for example, an employee who worked from Monday to Friday but took military leave from Friday through Monday would be charged with four days of military leave, "even if the employee would not have been required to work at his state job on that weekend." *Id*. The Washington Federation of Employees argued that this rule was contrary to RCW 38.40.060. The Court of Appeals agreed, holding that the statute, "when read in its entirety and construed in a manner consistent with its general purpose, is unambiguous and evidences a clear intent that military leave is to be computed on a work day basis." Id. at 309 (emphasis in original). It reached this conclusion regarding the meaning and intent of the statute based on its "plain language, which provides that employees of the state of Washington are to be granted military leave '... from such employment for a period not exceeding fifteen days" Id. (emphasis and ellipses in original) (quoting RCW 38.40.060).

This case raises the same question as *Washington*Federation: does RCW 38.40.060 permit employers to charge

employees on military leave for days that they would otherwise not have worked? While this case is brought under 38 U.S.C. § 4316(a) and (d) rather than state law, statutory paid military leave is a benefit protected by USERRA to the extent of the "full measure of leave due to" servicemembers under the law providing such a benefit. *Butterbaugh v. Dep't of Justice*, 336 F.3d 1332, 1336 (Fed. Cir. 2003); *see Pucilowski v. Dep't of Justice*, 498 F.3d 1341, 1344-45 (Fed. Cir. 2007). The scope of the underlying paid leave benefit is thus crucial to whether there has in fact been an infringement of a protected benefit.² And like

_

² The Court of Appeals took the view that both *Butterbaugh* and RCW 38.40.060 were "irrelevant" to Petitioner's claims, but addressed them at length regardless. Opinion at 12-15. They are in fact central to Plaintiff's legal theories in this case. *Butterbaugh* addressed similar claims (albeit under another section of USERRA and seeking to vindicate federal rather than state paid military leave benefits). *Butterbaugh*, 336 F.3d at 1334. It stands for two propositions of key importance. First, statutory paid military leave is a benefit of employment protected by USERRA. *Id.* at 1336. And second, whether an employee has been deprived of such a benefit turns on whether or not the

the plaintiffs in *Washington Federation*, here the Class has been deprived of a protected benefit by a public employer requiring them to take paid military leave (or vacation or unpaid leave) on days that they would not have worked had they not been on military leave. But the Court of Appeals held that RCW 38.40.060 permits such an "adjustment" because the Washington State Patrol purports to modify the work schedule of employees who are absent for 15 days of military leave to a 5-10 schedule, and thus such an employee is still "charged military leave 'only for days that he or she is scheduled to work." Opinion at 14 (quoting RCW 38.40.060(4)(a)).

practice is consistent with the underlying paid military leave statute—and whether they received the "full measure of leave due to them" under that statute. *Id.* The interpretation of RCW 38.40.060 and whether the Patrol's scheduling practices are consistent with it is thus a gating question for Petitioner's USERRA claims.

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