FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/31/2023 1:33 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102040-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BARBARA WERNER

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, WASHINGTON STATE PATROL, JEFFREY DEVERE, JAY CABEZUELA, TIMOTHY WINCHELL, and JOHN BATISTE,

Respondents.

STATE'S RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JOSHUA SCHAER Assistant Attorney General WSBA #31491 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle WA 98104 (206) 389-2042 OID #91019

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

A party petitioning the Supreme Court to accept discretionary review must demonstrate sufficient grounds based on the considerations found in under RAP 13.4(b); Petitioner argues only two of those grounds, namely:

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or . . . (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

See Br. of Pet'r at 15 (specifying these bases).

There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case and prior decisional authority. Likewise,

there is no issue of substantial public interest, particularly as Werner suffered no injury and is therefore not qualified to bring claims as a class representative.

B. Werner Does Not Establish a Conflict With Published Precedent Under RAP 13.4(b)(2)

The Court of Appeals decision on Werner's § 4316(d) claim does not conflict with any published case that addresses Werner's claims under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 (USERRA). 38 U.S.C. §§ 4301-4335.

USERRA encourages military service by reducing disadvantages that can result in coexisting civilian careers, and the Act prohibits discrimination against service members.

38 U.S.C. § 4301(a). Under USERRA, service members have a right to use specific forms of leave during a period of military service:

Any person whose employment with an employer is interrupted by a period of service in the uniformed services shall be permitted, upon request of that person, to use during such period of service any vacation, annual, or similar leave with pay accrued by the person before the commencement of such service. No employer may require any such person to use vacation, annual, or similar leave during such period of service.

38 U.S.C. § 4316(d). This provision applies where a service member claims an employer forced them to take specific forms of paid leave, or refused such requests. *E.g.*, *Buckley v. Peak6 Invs.*, *LP*, 827 F. Supp. 2d 846, 856 (N.D. Ill. 2011) (claim dismissed where policy permitted use of vacation leave and no requests were denied); *Conners v. Billerica Police Department*, 679 F. Supp. 2d 218, 226 (D. Mass. 2010) (police chief required subordinate to submit a request for vacation leave rather than military leave).

Werner's first claim is that, after a WSP employee uses 15 consecutive days of leave, WSP's policy in TAR § 2.020violates 38 U.S.C. § 4316(d) by causing the employee to receive eight hours of pay rather than ten hours of pay during remaining paid leave days. Br. of Pet'r at 13. Werner maintains that TAR § 2.020 compels employees to use other forms of

leave to "cover an additional absence each week" and suggests they are paid less as a result. *Id*.

Werner mischaracterizes four day, ten hour work shifts as customary so she can argue TAR § 2.020

disrupts these "common" schedules. Br. of Pet'r at 10.

What Werner fails to acknowledge is that four day, ten hour shifts are both alternative to the norm and conditional from their inception.

CP 316-17, 321. TAR § 2.020 makes every four day, ten hour shift subject to reversion to ensure compensation equity within the WSP. CP 310, 317. Thus, TAR § 2.020does not negatively affect anyone's schedule—a Monday through Friday, eight hour, five day workweek is always standard for anyone utilizing various forms of long-term leave. Cf. Br. of Pet'r at 11.

Werner seeks discretionary review on the basis that the Court of Appeals' opinion addressing the effect of TAR § 2.020conflicts with *Washington Federation*, but no such conflict exists. Br. of Pet'r at 20.

Washington Federation addressed whether a State employee should be charged under a Washington Personnel Board rule with taking military leave on non-work days. 54 Wn. App. at 307. For example, an employee who took military training on a Friday through the following Monday was charged with four days of leave even if the employee would not have worked over the weekend. *Id.* The Court of Appeals considered this issue in the context of RCW 38.40.060, stating in pertinent part:

Every officer and employee of the state.... shall be entitled to and shall be granted military leave for absence *from such employment* for a period not exceeding *fifteen days* during each calendar year Such military leave of absence shall be in addition to any vacation or sick leave to which the officer or employee might otherwise be entitled, and shall not involve any loss of efficiency rating, privileges, or pay

Id. at 307 (citing RCW 38.40.060; emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals concluded that, based on plain statutory language, "the term 'days' as used in the context of 'employment,' evidences the Legislature's clear and

unequivocal intent that military leave be computed on a work day basis" and not on a calendar day basis. *Id.* at 314.

The question of charging leave based on calendar days, not work days, is the same issue addressed in *Butterbaugh v*. *Department of Justice*, 336 F.3d 1332 (Fed. Cir. 2003). Although the application of a federal court case is not one of the considerations found in RAP 13.4(b), Werner nonetheless contends that *Butterbaugh* is "central" to her legal theories. Br. of Pet'r at 18 n.2. However, as the Court of Appeals noted below, *Butterbaugh* "construed a statute not involved in this case" and determined that "employees should only be charged for the days on which they were scheduled to work." *Martin*, 2023 WL 3116657, at *5 (citing 5 U.S.C. § 6323(a)(1)).

Here, in stark contrast to the rules at issue in both *Washington Federation* and *Butterbaugh*, TAR § 2.020 only proscribes the use of paid leave during work days, not calendar days. Werner concedes that TAR § 2.020 implements a "Monday through Friday, 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. schedule—a five-day

workweek." Br. of Pet'r at 10; see also id. at 25 (Werner acknowledges RCW 38.40.060(4)(a) governs leave on days "which the employee is scheduled to work."). For employees that return to work after 15 days of military leave, they are "restored to their prior 4-10 [four days a week, ten hours a day] schedule." Id. at 11. As the Court of Appeals observed, a leave day for employees on both a four tens and five eights schedule is "still a day." Martin, 2023 WL 3116657, at *5. Werner does not argue, nor does she present evidence, that she was compelled to use paid leave based on calendar days rather than work days.

Because the *Washington Federation* decision regarding the use of work days instead of calendar days when charging employee leave does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' opinion here, Werner is unable to show that discretionary review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. There is Also No Conflict with Precedent Because Paid Military Leave under RCW 38.40.060 Does Not Qualify as a Right or Benefit Determined by Seniority

Werner does not present any argument in support of her additional 38 U.S.C. § 4316(a) claim that paid military leave granted under RCW 38.40.060 is a right or benefit determined by seniority. Br. of Pet'r at 4. The Court should deem this assignment of error abandoned. See RAP 10.3(a)(6); see also Fosbre v. State, 70 Wn.2d 578, 583, 424 P.2d 901 (1967) ("We consider those points not argued and discussed in the opening brief abandoned and not open to consideration on their merits.") (citations omitted); Samra v. Singh, 15 Wn. App. 2d 823, 836, 479 P.3d 713 (2020) ("Passing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration."); J-U-B Engineers, Inc. v. Routsen, 69 Wn. App. 148, 152, 848 P.2d 733 (1993) ("In the absence of argument and citation of authority, we will not consider these issues.").

Should Werner's argument nonetheless be reached, she still cannot show sufficient grounds under RAP 13.4(b)(2) warranting discretionary review. In order for a claim to be actionable under § 4316(a), the statute requires that the claim involve a right or benefit determined by seniority:

A person who is reemployed under this chapter is entitled to the seniority and other rights and benefits *determined by seniority* that the person had on the date of the commencement of service in the uniformed services plus the additional seniority and rights and benefits that such person would have attained if the person had remained continuously employed.

38 U.S.C. § 4316(a) (emphasis added). "A right and benefit is seniority-based if the right (1) 'would have accrued, with reasonable certainty, had the veteran been continuously employed by the private employer'; and (2) if 'it is in the nature of a reward for length of service." *Moss v. United Airlines, Inc.*, 20 F.4th 375, 382 (7th Cir. 2021); *see also Alabama Power Co. v. Davis*, 431 U.S. 581, 594, 97 S. Ct. 2002, 52 L. Ed. 2d 595 (1977) (explaining that because pension plans

reward longevity in employment it is a right or benefit determined by seniority).

In Washington, no vesting period is required to accrue or use paid military leave; all public employees called to military service entitled paid military leave. See are RCW 38.40.060(1). Further, the amount of paid military leave does not increase based upon longevity—all employees receive a 21 day allotment regardless of how long they have been employed. Id.; cf. 38 U.S.C. § 4303(12) (defining "seniority" under USERRA as "longevity in employment together with any benefits of employment which accrue with, or are determined by, longevity in employment."). There is simply no connection between the amounts of paid military leave authorized by RCW 38.40.060(1) and the length of time an employee has worked for the State. Thus, to the extent Werner assigns error to the dismissal of her § 4316(a) claim, she cannot sustain that theory of liability and this Court should not review it.

D. Werner Does Not Establish an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Werner's petition does nothing more than raise erroneous theories about the effect of TAR § 2.020on paid leave—theories that are not only limited to WSP employees subject to the specific policy, but that have been soundly rejected in both the trial court and Court of Appeals. Discretionary review is therefore not appropriate because Werner fails to raise "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Further appellate review will also not provide a "clarification of benefits" as Werner asserts. Br. of Pet'r at 25. RCW 38.40.060 unambiguously provides for paid leave during military service, and TAR § 2.020restores WSP employees to the normal five eights schedule when they exceed 15 days of any form of long-term leave. There is no "confusion" regarding the applicability of either the statute or policy. *Cf.* Br. of Pet'r at 25.

While Bearden v. City of Ocean Shores, No. C21-5035 BHS, 2022 WL 17532303 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 8, 2022) addressed **USERRA** claims in the context of RCW 38.40.060(1), the alleged similarity to this case ends there. See Br. of Pet'r at 21 n.3. The Bearden plaintiff was charged non-military accrued leave after "he did not provide . . . any documentation indicating that he was required to report for military duty," and had no entitlement to military leave on days he was not scheduled to work. Bearden, 2022 WL 17532303, at *5-7. By contrast, Werner failed to demonstrate in proceedings below even a single instance where WSP required an employee to use any form of paid leave or denied an employee the use of paid leave.

In fact, Werner herself cannot act as a class representative because she has not suffered an injury under 38 U.S.C. § 4316(a) or (d). Like her 38 U.S.C. § 4316(a) claim related to seniority, Werner does not present any argument concerning her assignment of error on the issue of standing, and

it should also be deemed abandoned. See, e.g., RAP 10.3(a)(6); Samra, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 836.

But even if standing is reached as an issue, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it correctly refused to substitute Werner as a class representative because she failed to establish she suffered any actual injury for purposes of a § 4316(a) or (d) claim.³. "A class representative must be part of the class and 'possess the same interest and suffer the same injury' as the class members." Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, 564 U.S. 338, 348-49, 131 S. Ct. 2541, 180 L. Ed. 2d 374 (2011) (emphasis added); see also E. Texas Motor Freight Sys. Inc. v. Rodriguez, 431 U.S. 395, 404, 97 S. Ct. 1891, 52 L. Ed. 2d 453 (1977) (plaintiff was "simply not eligible to represent a class of persons who did allegedly suffer injury."). This requirement ensures a named plaintiff is an appropriate

³ Appellate review of a trial court's decision regarding class certification, including a motion to substitute the class representative, is for a manifest abuse of discretion. *Elter v. United Servs. Auto. Ass'n*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 643, 654, 487 P.3d 539 (2021).

representative of the class. *Dukes*, 564 U.S. at 349. Four requirements must be proven to establish representative status: numerosity, commonality, typicality and adequate representation. *Id.* (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 23).⁴ Determining whether each element has been established involves an analysis that overlaps with the merits of pled claims. *Id.* at 350-51.

The plain language of 38 U.S.C. § 4316(a) requires the deprivation of a benefit or right *determined by seniority*. 38 U.S.C. § 4316(a) (emphasis added). As discussed above, paid military leave is not a benefit or right determined by seniority. Accordingly, Werner's claims that TAR § 2.020adversely affected her military leave cannot sustain a §4316(a) violation – which in turn prevents her from serving as a class representative for any putative § 4316(a) claims.

A similar flaw precluded Werner from serving as a class

⁴ "Because CR 23 is identical to its federal counterpart, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23, federal cases interpreting the analogous federal provision are highly persuasive." *Schwendeman v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co.*, 116 Wn. App. 9, 19 n.24, 65 P.3d 1 (2003).

representative for any putative § 4316(d) claims. A USERRA violation under 38 U.S.C. § 4316(d) requires either (1) a refusal to approve a request to use paid leave or (2) a requirement to use paid leave. But Werner failed to identify any instance when a refusal to approve her own leave occurred, or when she was compelled to use paid leave rather than allowed military leave. See CP 532-35 (Werner Decl.). In fact, WSP permitted Werner to use her full complement of 21 days paid military leave, and such leave was never prematurely extinguished because of TAR § 2.020. See CP 548-55 (Werner leave schedule). During 2018-19, Werner never used more than four days of paid military leave in any week before or after her schedule reverted to five eights. See CP 548-55. In 2019-2020, Werner twice used five days of military leave in a week, but she never exhausted her paid military leave benefit during that timeframe despite the opportunity to do so. See CP 556-57.

Further, to the extent Werner asserts she received less compensation for leave days relative to other employees, her

argument fails because: 1) as shown in the chart above, four tens employees receive a *greater* benefit during the first 15 days of leave, and 2) all employees are treated *equally* beyond the point when 15 days of leave are used. *Martin*, 2023 WL 3116657, at *5 (paid leave is only "still a day" regardless of days worked per week). Werner is not a proper class representative for a § 4316(d) claim.

Thus, because Werner did not suffer an injury, she does not qualify for class representative status. *See Dukes*, 564 U.S. at 348-49; *Rodriguez*, 431 U.S. at 404. As the Court of Appeals stated:

The continuing viability of the class action depended on Trooper Werner's ability to demonstrate claims for violations of 38 U.S.C. § 4316(a) and (d). She demonstrated neither. A party who lacks standing herself cannot represent a class of which she is not a party.

Martin, 2023 WL 3116657, at *8 (citing Johnston v. Beneficial Mgmt. Corp., 85 Wn.2d 637, 645, 538 P.2d 510 (1975)). In sum, Werner fails to present an issue of substantial public

interest in seeking discretionary review of claims that she cannot pursue.

V. CONCLUSION

Werner has failed to demonstrate that this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) or (4), and her Petition should be denied.

This document contains 4,367 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.